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I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND APPEALABILITY

The complaint in this action alleged violations of the Sherman and
Clayton Acts. DR No. 1." Jurisdiction in the trial court was based on Sections
4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15(a) and 26 and 28 U.S.C. § 1337.

The District court, the Honorable Manuel Real, entered a Final Order
and Judgment Approving Settlement on September 10, 2007. ER No. 1. The
appeal from that order was filed on September 25, 2007. ER No. 11. On
November 8, 2007 the trial court entered an order denying Appellants’ Motion
for Attorneys’ Fees. ER No. 7. Notice of Appeal from that Order was filed
December 7, 2007. ER No. 4. These Appeals are from a final order and
Judgment approving the settlement of a class action and awarding plaintiffs’
counsel attorneys’ fees, as well as a collateral order denying appellants an
award of attorneys’ fees. Such orders are immediately appealable under 28
U.S.C. 1291.

H. ISSUES PRESENTED

l. Whether the district court abused its discretion in approving a class

! As used in this brief, the designation “DR No. " refers to the
District Court’s docket report entry number. The designation “ER No. ”
refers to the Excerpt of Record and the specific document no. in the Excerpt of
Record.
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action settlement while concurrently finding that the proceedings had been
tainted by the appearance of impropriety, breaches of the Rules of Professional
Conduct, breaches of fiduciary duty and candor to the court, and actual
conflicts of interest between the representative plaintiffs and the class?

2. Whether the district court abused its discretion in failing to apply its
findings of conflict, breaches of fiduciary duties and Rules of Professional
Conduct, and failure of candor to the court to the class counsel in the case and
in failing to find inadequate representation and disqualify class counsel as a
consequence?

3. Whether there was an intra-class conflict that resulted in claims
possessed by some, but not all, class members being ignored or traded for
increased recovery by the other subclass, and whether the district court abused
its discretion in failing to require separate representation and in approving the
proposed settlement despite the existence of this conflict?

4, Whether the district court abused its discretion in awarding any amount
of attorney’s fees to class counsel after finding conflicts of interest, breaches of
fiduciary duties and Rules of Professional Conduct, and failure of candor to the
court arising from a contingent “incentive award” agreement (the “Amended

Settlement Agreement”) between named plaintiffs and their counsel.

.



5. Whether the district court abused its discretion in refusing to award any
attorney’s fees to counsel for the Head/Schneider Objectors when they were the
objectors who pointed out the existence and effect of the Amended Incentive
Agreement between certain named plaintiffs and their counsel and provided
arguments later adopted by the district court in its order approving the
settlement and denying the incentive awards to the Representative Plaintiffs?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed their complaint alleging violations of §§ 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1 and 2) and Section 7 of the Clayton Act (15
U.S.C. § 18) on April 29, 2005. DR No. 1. A nationwide litigation class was
certified on May 15, 2006. DR No. 114. A settlement of the case was
preliminarily approved by the district court, the Honorable Manuel Real, on
March 26, 2007. DR No. 259. Pursuant to the notice sent to class members,
Appellants timely filed Preliminary Objections to the settlement on May 21,
2007. DR Nos. 344 and 345.

The district court held a fairness hearing on June 18, 2007 to consider
the final approval of the proposed settlement. At that hearing, the
Head/Schneider Objectors, through their attorneys, alerted Judge Real to the

existence of an “Amended Incentive Agreement” made between several of the
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class representatives and their counsel, explaining that the agreements
presented a prohibited conflict of interest for plaintiffs and their counsel. At
the conclusion of the June 18, 2007 hearing, Judge Real continued the Final
Approval hearing to July 9, 2007 and requested that the parties submit
additional briefing on, among other things, the incentive awards and the
possible conflict issues raised by the Amended Incentive Agreements. DR No.
350.

In response to the briefing on the matter by Plaintiffs, the
Head/Schneider objectors submitted a Supplemental Objection and Response to
Supplemental Filing by Plaintiffs re: Conflict of Interest on July 6, 2007. DR
No. 409; ER No. 9. After argument presented at the July 9, 2007 hearing, the
court issued an order approving the settlement, but denying incentive awards to
the class representatives, on September 10, 2007, Opinion and Order ER No. 4
at 66-68. Final judgment approving the settlement was entered on September
10, 2007. ER No. 1. Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on October
10, 2007. ER No. 11.

After reviewing the court’s Opinion and Order (ER No. 4), Appellants
filed a motion for attorneys’ fees because they believed that they had provided

the benefit of adversarial analysis to the district court and were a substantial
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factor in the court’s decision to deny $325,000 in aggregate incentive awards
to the named plaintiffs incentive awards to the named plaintiffs. The motion
was opposed by plaintiffs and defendants. DR Nos. 442, 454, 459, 460, 464
and 469. |

Judge Real denied attorneys’ fees to the Head/Schneider Objectors by
order dated November 8, 2007, holding that their counsel “did not add anything
to the Court’s order” on the incentive awards. ER No. 7. However, the
existence and implications of the Incentive Agreements were unknown to
Judge Real until counsel for the Head/Schneider objectors pointed it out at the
final approval hearing. It is also apparent that several key sections of the Order
are, in fact, nearly verbatim excerpts of original work found in the
Head/Schneider Objectors’ Supplemental Objection filed on July 6, 2007. ER
No. 9; DR No. 409.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a class action case in which the district court ruled that plaintiffs
appointed to represent the class had a longstanding conflict of interest with
absent class members arising from a contingent agreement with class counsel.
Opinion and Order ER No. 4 at 66-68. The written agreement was first

disclosed to the district court by the Head/Schneider Objectors in the course of
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final approval of a proposed settlement, leading Judge Real to find that the
representative plaintiffs had a conflict of interest with the class. Consequently,
he denied a total of $325,000 in contingent incentive awards to the named
plaintiffs. Order Denying Incentive Awards to Class Representatives ER No.
3.

The Incentive Agreements which are at the heart of this appeal were
entered into in March 2005—a month before the complaint in this action was
filed. Amended Incentive Agreements ER No. § at 142-169; Complaint DR
No. I. Pursuant to the Amended Incentive Agreements, plaintiffs’ counsel was
obligated to seek incentive awards for the named plaintiffs ranging from
$10,000 per plaintiff if the case settled for $500,000 to $75,000 if the case
settled for $10,000,000 or more. Kanazawa Declaration ER No. 8 at 140 4 2.
The Amended Incentive Agreements were provided to the Defendants in April
of 2006, prior to class certification and before the negotiation of the proposed
settlement. Opinion and Order ER No. 4 at 37: 14-15. However, the district
court did not become aware of the Incentive Agreements until the first final
approval hearing. Opinion and Order ER No. 4 at 67-68. The existence of the
Incentive Agreements was not disclosed to the class in the notice sent to class

members. Opinion and Order ER No. 4 at 67-68.
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On the basis of the Incentive Agreements, Judge Real found that a
conflict existed between the named plaintiffs and the class. Opinion and Order
ER No. 4 at 66-68. This finding contrasts starkly with his prior May 15, 2006
order permitting the case to proceed as a class action and finding the plaintiffs
and their counsel to be adequate representatives of the class. Order Granting
Motion for Class Certification. DR No. 114.

In February 2007, McGuire Woods LLP, one of the firms appointed as
class counsel, sought to withdraw as counsel of record for three of the named
plaintiffs who opposed the settlement which had been negotiated in this matter.
Motion to Withdraw DR 241 and 242. At the same time, plaintiffs’ counsel
sought preliminary approval of the settlement. Motion for Preliminary
Approval of Settlement DR Nos. 243 and 244. The court denied the Motion to
Withdraw as counsel and preliminarily approved the settlement in March 2007.
DR No. 258.

In May, 2007, in connection with seeking final approval of the
settlement agreement, plaintiffs’ counsel filed a motion for an award of
incentive fees to the named plaintiffs along with the Declaration of Sidney
Kanazawa. DR Nos. 275 and 276. The Amended Incentive Agreements were

not filed with the district court at that time, but were instead filed with a
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supplemental declaration of Sidney Kanazawa on June 11, 2007, filed in
support of responses to objections. ER No. 8.

In late May of 2007, Eliot Disner, one of the principal plaintiffs’
attorneys in this case, was fired by McGuire Woods LLP and began
representing the three plaintiffs who were opposed to the settlement (the
“Objecting Plaintiffs”). DR No. 288. On May 31, 2007, Mr. Disner filed an ex
parte application to speak freely for the Objecting Plaintiffs, to gain access to
the McGuire Woods’ files, and to be appointed co-lead counsel in the case. DR
No. 304. The Head/Schneider Objectors submitted a responsive brief, warning
the district court of a burgeoning conflict of interest problem in the case and
proposing further briefing on the subject of appointing additional, unconflicted
counsel. The district court denied Mr. Disner’s motion on June 13, 2007. DR
No. 346.

The final approval hearing on the settlement was held on June 18, 2007.
At that hearing, the Head/Schneider Objectors strenuously opposed the
requested incentive awards of $75,000 for three of the named plaintiffs, and
$25,000 each for four additional named plaintiffs. At the Final Approval
hearing, after the Head/Schneider objectors had raised the issue of the

Amended Incentive Agreements, Judge Real requested them from plaintiffs’
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counsel, indicating that he had not previously seen them.

At the conclusion of the June 18, 2007 hearing, Judge Real continued
the Final Approval hearing to July 9, 2007 and requested that the parties submit
additional briefing on the incentive awards and the possible conflict issues
raised by the incentive agreements. DR No. 350.

In response to the subsequent briefing by Plaintiffs, the Head/Schneider
objectors submitted a Supplemental Objection and Response to Supplemental
Filing by Plaintiffs re: Conflict of Interest on July 6, 2007. DR No. 409; ER
No. 9. After argument presented at the July 9, 2007 hearing, the court issued
an order approving the settlement, but denying incentive awards to the class
representatives on September 10, 2007, finding, among other things, that the
incentive award agreement was “inappropriate and contrary to public policy,”
and that it violated the California Rules of Professional Conduct “prohibiting
fee-sharing with clients and fee-splitting among lawyers.” Opinion and Order
ER No. 4 at 59-62.

Most importantly, the court found that the incentive agreement created a
conflict of interest between the named plaintiffs and the rest of the class.
Opinion and Order ER No. 4 at 66-68. Moreover, “the parties did not disclose

their agreement to the Court from the outset and the agreement was never
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disclosed to the class... no one informed the Court of the Incentive Agreement
until well after the Preliminary Approval Hearing... The failure to disclose this
agreement to the Court violates the class representatives’ fiduciary duties to the
class and duty of candor to the Court.” Opinion and Order ER No. 4 at 67.
Judge Real concluded that “As evidenced by the oral arguments and briefing of
some of the Objectors, the Incentive Agreement did in fact give the
proceedings the appearance of impropriety.” ER No. 4; p. 65: 3-5.

Nevertheless, rather than disqualifying some or all of the class
representatives for their conflict of interest and failure of candor, Judge Real
only denied the incentive awards they requested, ruling “Thus, the safeguards
of notice and judicial approval could not operate to prevent the conflict of
interests here. The Court must now act to remedy the conflict by declining to
award incentive payments.” ER No. 4 at pps. 67: 25-68:2.

Judge Real proceeded to approve the settlement, despite the facts he had
found, stating that “the conflict of interest between the class Representatives
and the class Members does not disturb the Court’s finding that the Settlement
is fair, adequate, and reasonable.” ER No. 4 at 43.

Based upon the district court’s denial of $325,000 in aggregate incentive

awards to the named plaintiffs, counsel for the Head/Schneider Objectors
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petitioned the court for an award of attorneys’ fees in the amount of one-third
of the amount saved for the class, which was opposed by the Plaintiffs and
Defendants. DR Nos. 442, 454, 459, 460, 464 and 469.

Judge Real denied attorneys’ fees to the Head/Schneider Objectors by
order dated November 8, 2007, holding that they “did not add anything to the
Court’s order denying the named plaintiffs’ [incentive awards].” ER No. 7. On
the record, however, there is little question that the existence and implications
of the Incentive Agreements were unknown to Judge Real until counsel for the
Head/Schneider objectors pointed it out at the first final approval hearing. It is
also apparent that several key sections of the Order are, in fact, nearly verbatim
excerpts of original work found in the Head/Schneider objectors’ Supplemental
Objection filed on July 6, 2007. ER No. 9; DR No. 409.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As a preliminary — and dispositive — matter, the district court’s findings
of conflict of interest, breaches of fiduciary duty, violations of the Rules of
Professional Conduct and failure of candor on the part of the class
representatives in this case precluded final approval of the settlement on due
process grounds. These findings indicate inadequacy of representation by the

representatives, which means that the district court has not successfully taken
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jurisdiction over absent class members consistent with due process. That
inadequacy of representation is not “remedied” merely by denying incentive
awards to the representatives, as the district court did in a bid to salvage the
settlement.

Moreover, although Judge Real did not expressly extend those rulings to
class counsel, the nature of the violations and the facts of the case suggest that
class counsel should have been faulted to an equal, if not greater, extent for the
conflicts of interest, breaches of duty, and failure of candor identified by Judge
Real. Again, the consequent failure of adequate representation should have
precluded approval of the settlement.

The sudden issues of adequacy and conflict overshadowed an equally
important issue of intra-class conflict, by which a subset of class members with
additional claims will see those claims go entirely uncompensated under the
settlement. This presented a class conflict of a different sort, but which also
required unconflicted, adequate representation.

Even if the settlement were somehow approvable under the
circumstances, notwithstanding the inadequacy of representation, the district
court should have awarded much lower attorneys’ fees than were awarded here.

The circumstances of apparent impropriety and actual conflict of interest set

-12 -



forth in Judge Real’s opinion cannot support the full fee award, much less a
1.75 multiplier on all attorney time spent, and to be spent, in the case.

Finally, the district court should not have denied the Head/Schneider
Objectors’ motion for attorneys’ fees. Based upon the factual record and
Judge Real’s Order, their efforts were clearly of assistance to the court. They
were the first to point out the existence and implications of the Amended
Incentive Agreement that became the focus of the fairness hearings and the
source of Judge Real’s holdings on the conflicts of the class representatives.
Indeed, Judge Real’s Order adopts many of the arguments the Head/Schneider
Objectors made in briefing the matter, some of them nearly verbatim.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

District courts’ approval of class action settlements are reviewed for
abuse of discretion. Davis v. City and County of San Francisco, 890 F.2d
1438, 1445 (9th Cir. 1989). District courts’ decisions to grant or deny
attorneys’ fees are generally reviewed for abuse of discretion, and factual
findings for clear error. V.S. v. Los Gatos-Saratoga, 484 F.3d 1230, 1232 (9th
Cir. 2007). “A trial court abuses its discretion if its ruling on a fee motion is
based on an inaccurate view of the law or a clearly erroneous finding of fact.”

Barrios v. Calif. Interscholastic Federation, 277 F.3d 1128, 1133 (9th Cir.
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2002).

However, any elements of legal analysis and statutory interpretation that
figure in the district court’s decisions are reviewed de novo. Barrios, 277 F.3d
at 1133; V.S. v. Los Gatos-Saratoga, 484 F.3d at 1232. Therefore, in this case,
the standard of review is de novo with respect to the district court’s
interpretation of California law (Matter of McLinn, 739 F. 2d 1395, 1397 (9th
Cir. 1984) and with respect to whether the district court applied the correct
legal standard regarding the award of attorneys’ fees. U.S. v. Jerry M. Lewis
Truck Parts & equipment, 89 F 3d 574, 576 (9th Cir. 1996). The amount of the
attorneys’ fee award is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. /d.

VII. ARGUMENT

A.  The Numerous Conflicts of Interest in this Case Amounted to
Inadequate Representation, and Precluded Final Approval of
the Proposed Class Settlement

Although district court orders approving class action settlements are

typically reviewed for a clear abuse of discretion, this case is unusual. Here,
there were ethical issues — clearly recognized by the district court — that
precluded a finding of adequacy of representation, an issue of basic compliance

with constitutional due process. In addition, those ethical issues are the
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